THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

THE HONORABLE BROOKS P. GOLDSMITH, CIRCUIT JUDGE

RECEIVED
JUN 15 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2017-001775

Mikell M. Henderson, Appellant,

vs. -

Mikell R. Scarborough, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Ross Hanahan and Joseph Ross Henderson, Defendants,

Of whom Mikell R. Scarborough, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Ross Hanahan, is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT MIKELL M. HENDERSON

HUNTER, MACLEAN, EXLEY & DUNN, P.C.

David M. Burkoff

South Carolina Bar No. 100339

Kate L. Smith

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court apply the wrong standard of review when it granted Scarborough’s motion for summary judgment on Henderson’s claim that Hanahan lacked capacity to execute documents creating and transferring property to the MRH Family LLC?

2. Did the trial court commit error in holding that no genuine dispute of material fact remained for trial on Henderson’s claim that Hanahan lacked capacity to execute documents creating and transferring property to the MRH Family LLC?

3. Did the trial court apply the wrong standard of review when it granted Scarborough’s motion for summary judgment on Henderson’s claim that Scarborough unduly influenced Hanahan to execute documents creating and transferring property to the MRH Family LLC?

4. Did the trial court commit error in holding that no genuine dispute of material fact remained for trial on Henderson’s claim that Scarborough unduly influenced Hanahan to execute documents creating and transferring property to the MRH Family LLC?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the estate of Mary Ross Hanahan (“Hanahan”), who died on October 23, 2014 at the age of 74. (R. p. 26, para. 1). Appellant Mikell M. Henderson (“Henderson”) is Hanahan’s son and Respondent Mikell R. Scarborough (“Scarborough”) is Hanahan’s nephew. (R. p. 26, para. 2, R. p. 27, para. 5) Henderson initiated this case with a Petition filed in Charleston County Probate Court on September 2, 2015 (the “Petition”). (R. p. 26). Scarborough filed a motion to remove the case to the Charleston County Circuit Court on November 15, 2015, which was granted by the Probate Judge and filed in the Circuit Court on December 2, 2015. (R. pp. 876-877). Motions in this case have been heard by visiting judges given Scarborough’s position as the Master-in-Equity for Charleston County.

Most relevant to this appeal, Henderson's Petition alleges that Hanahan lacked capacity, as of December 2012, to execute (i) an operating agreement that created the LLC and granted a 30% interest in the LLC to Scarborough, (ii) a deed that transferred approximately \$6 million of Hanahan's real property to the LLC, and (iii) an accompanying "Statement Regarding Land Transfers" in which Hanahan purported to profess her own competency and the independence of her decision to sign the deed. (R. p. 31, para. 44; R. p. 268; R. p. 883-884). Additionally, Henderson contends that Scarborough, who, together with Henderson, handled Hanahan's financial and business affairs, exercised undue influence over Hanahan in arranging for her to execute the aforementioned documents, which had the net effect of transferring approximately \$1.8 million of Hanahan's assets to Scarborough (30% of \$6 million). (R. pp. 27-28, paras. 18-22; R. p. 31, paras. 45-46; R. pp. 265-268). These claims are embodied in Henderson's third cause of action: "Action to Try Title to Real Estate." (R. p. 31, paras. 44-46).

On September 13, 2016, Scarborough filed a motion for summary judgment directed at Henderson's third cause of action. (R. pp. 59-62). On February 15, 2017, Scarborough also filed a motion for summary judgment directed at Henderson's first and second causes of action, which challenge a purported Codicil to Hanahan's Last Will and Testament dated October 19, 2012 (the "Codicil"), also on grounds of capacity and undue influence. Scarborough filed one memorandum in support of both of his motions, dated April 19, 2017, to which he attached certain exhibits and affidavits. (R. pp. 89). Henderson submitted a memorandum in opposition to Scarborough's motions, dated May 16, 2017, which likewise attached certain exhibits and affidavits. (R. pp. 878-910). Scarborough filed a supplemental memorandum on May 16, 2017. (R. p. 126).

The trial court (Hon. Brooks Goldsmith) heard argument on the motions on May 18,

2017. (R. p. 226). At the hearing, the trial court orally granted Scarborough's motion for summary judgment on Henderson's third cause of action and directed Scarborough's counsel to prepare an order memorializing that ruling. (R. p. 275, lines 18-21). The trial court signed that order (the "LLC Order") on May 30, 2017. (R. p. 21). The trial court took Scarborough's motion for summary judgment on Henderson's first and second causes of action under advisement at the hearing (R. p. 296, lines 3-6), and subsequently issued an order dated May 30, 2017 (the "Codicil Order") denying that motion. (R. p. 22).¹

In the LLC Order, the trial court explained its reasoning for granting Scarborough's motion for summary judgment on Henderson's third cause of action. First, as to Henderson's claim that Hanahan lacked **capacity** to execute documents creating and transferring property to the LLC, the LLC Order states in pertinent part:

.... I find that Mr. Moss [an accountant affiliated with Scarborough] prepared the MRH Family, LLC Operating Agreement and went over it extensively with Ms. Hanahan on December 30, 2012, and, significantly, that she understood the provisions. Further, Ms. Hanahan was aware that, by creating the estate plan, her estate would save a substantial amount on paying very high estate taxes.

Attorney Yates also prepared a separate Statement of Intent as to Land Transfers signed by Ms. Hanahan by which she acknowledged that she was making the transfers to the LLC to save on estate taxes. Further, the document stated that Ms. Hanahan understood that her nephew, Mikell Scarborough, would benefit from the creation of the LLC.

Petitioner acknowledges that he did not raise the issue of his mother's alleged lack of mental capacity to sign the documents at the time they were executed in December 2012.

I further find that while Petitioner cites his mother's dementia, mental illness and declining physical health as grounds for lack of capacity, the

¹ Henderson's claims that the Codicil was the product of undue influence and that Hanahan lacked capacity to sign that document are currently proceeding towards trial. Scarborough filed another motion for summary judgment directed at those claims on January 26, 2018. The trial court (Hyman, J.) denied that second motion from the bench, just as Judge Goldsmith had denied the earlier motion directed at the same claims.

September 6, 2012, report of Dr. Kay Durst states that as to Dr. Durst's psychiatric observations of Ms. Hanahan on that day that she (Ms. Hanahan) was "negative for anxiety, depression, and sleep disturbances" and has "appropriate affect and demeanor, normal speech pattern and grossly normal memory."

Of further note, in Petitioner's Responses to Respondent's First Requests to Admit dated June 13, 2016, Petitioner admits that on October 16, 2012, well after the report of September 6, 2012, that Kay Durst, MD, treating physician of Ms. Hanahan states in her medical records that "she (Ms. Hanahan) is doing well overall" and Ms. Hanahan "states that she feels no issue" and is "in no apparent distress." Petitioner did not dispute Dr. Durst's report in his deposition testimony.

Additionally, I find that in his Responses to Respondent's First Requests to Admit dated June 13, 2016, Petitioner admits that on October 18, 2012, that Piave Pitisci Lake, MD, treating psychiatrist of Ms. Hanahan, states in her medical records that "she (Ms. Hanahan) has a neat appearance; her thought process is "normal", her thought content is "normal", she has "full orientation as to place, time, person", her speech is "normal"; her memory is "wnl (within normal limits); she shows "no gross deficit" in either insight or judgment. Petitioner did not dispute Dr. Lake's report in his deposition testimony.

I find that while alleging Ms. Hanahan lacked capacity, it is notable that during the course of this case, Petitioner has not produced, by affidavit or by deposition testimony of any medical provider or caregiver, any evidence that Ms. Hanahan suffered from any mental deficiency or mental or physical defect that would affect her ability to understand the nature of the creation of the MRH Family, LLC, the Operating Agreement, the pertinent deeds, or the Statement regarding Land Transfers. Conversely, Ms. Hanahan's mental status is stated to be within normal limits as set forth in the two doctors' reports of October 2012, just weeks before the creation and funding of the LLC.

(R. pp. 8-12 (emphasis omitted); *see generally* R. pp. 5-13).

Second, as to Henderson's claim that Scarborough exercised **undue influence** over Hanahan in connection with the formation and transfer of property to the LLC, the trial court reasoned:

The Court rejects Petitioner's assertion that Respondent exercised any undue influence on his aunt with regard to the creation and funding of MRH Family, LLC because Respondent was not present when the relevant deeds and Statement of Mary Ross Hanahan Concerning 2012

Land Transfers was [sic] signed by his aunt before Mr. Moss and Attorney Yates. I find that Attorney Yates accompanied Respondent to Ms. Hanahan's house on December 30, 2012. Attorney Yates had tax maps with him that day, which are drawings that depict where the properties were located, as was his custom. Mr. Yates met with Ms. Hanahan at the residence and

"had Mikell go out or go away from earshot or sight so that I could talk to her about this and to make sure that I felt comfortable that she had an intent to sign these documents. ...and she was adamant that this is what she wanted."

Ms. Hanahan, Respondent and Attorney Yates then travelled to Mr. Moss's office for the documents to be executed and Attorney Yates again asked Respondent "to leave the room and Mikell went in to the hallway outside of the office completely. I ... wanted to make sure that this was what she wanted to do and that she understood what she was doing ... Nobody is pushing you ... she was adamant. I detected no evidence of incapacity or forgetfulness at all."

I find that Attorney Yates, as well as Mr. Moss, were with Ms. Hanahan a little over 2 hours during these various discussions and execution of the documents in question. Ms. Hanahan signed the deeds and Statement before Mr. Moss and Attorney Yates. In the Statement, Ms. Hanahan acknowledges that she has had the opportunity to consult with Mr. Moss and her nephew, that she wishes to avoid substantial estate taxes, that her nephew would have an interest in the MRH Family, LLC and that she would retain a 2% interest. ... More importantly, Ms. Hanahan states that she has not been placed under any duress or influence by any one and that she was free or not free to sign the document.

Further, Attorney Yates "was of the opinion that she was under no disability or constraint or any undue influence. I made doggone certain that; Mikell is not here, this is between us, you don't have to do this if you don't want to."

(R. pp. 13-15 (emphasis omitted; some ellipses in the original); *see generally* R. pp. 13-20).

On June 19, 2017, Henderson filed a Motion to Alter, Amend and/or Reconsider the Court's Order Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Action to Try Title to Real Estate. The Court denied Plaintiff's Motion by Order filed on July 21, 2017 (the "Reconsideration Order") (R. p. 23). On August 23, 2017, Henderson filed and served Scarborough with his notice of appeal of the LLC Order and the Reconsideration Order, and this

appeal followed.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Applied the Incorrect Standard of Review to Henderson's Incapacity Claim.

“The party alleging incompetence bears the burden of proving incapacity at the time of the transaction by a preponderance of the evidence.” *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 351 S.C. 287, 294–95, 569 S.E.2d 371, 375–76 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Grapner v. Atl. Land Title Co.*, 307 S.C. 549, 551, 416 S.E.2d 617, 618 (1992)); see *Morris Fertilizer Co. v. Bonner*, 126 S.C. 284, 119 S.E. 826, 827 (1923) (“That a party alleging insanity or want of mental capacity is bound to establish it by the preponderance of the evidence is elementary.”).

At the summary judgment stage, “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit *a mere scintilla of evidence* in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) (emphasis added); see *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). Thus, Henderson’s burden in the trial court was to submit a mere scintilla of evidence that Hanahan lacked capacity to execute the LLC operating agreement and the deed transferring property to the LLC.

“South Carolina has defined contractual capacity as a person’s ability to understand, at the time the contract is executed, the nature of the contract and its effect.” *In re Thames*, 344 S.C. 564, 570, 544 S.E.2d 854, 857 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations omitted); see, e.g., *Macaulay*, 351 S.C. at 294, 569 S.E.2d at 375 (“[I]n order to have the mental capacity required to execute the Second Trust and life insurance contract, Dusenberry must have had the mental capacity to understand or comprehend the subject of the contract, its nature, and its probable consequences.”). Thus, what the trial court *should have* done in the LLC Order is evaluate

whether Henderson had offered at least a mere scintilla of evidence that Hanahan could not understand the nature and effect of the operating agreement and the deed. In other words, did Henderson supply at least “a trace of evidence”? *Rogers v. Norfolk S. Corp.*, 356 S.C. 85, 95, 588 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2003) (Burnett, J., dissenting on other grounds) (“A scintilla is defined as ‘a trace’ of evidence.” (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 1347 (7th ed.1999))).

The trial court failed to ask, much less answer, this question. Instead, the trial court *referenced* the “mere scintilla” standard but then, in the next sentence, *also referenced* the more onerous standard that applies where the burden of proof is greater than a preponderance of the evidence:

Where the underlying burden of proof is by a preponderance of the evidence, South Carolina courts are clear that the non-moving party need only produce a ‘mere scintilla’ of evidence to withstand summary judgment. *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011); *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330-331, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-803 (2009). However, ***in cases involving a heightened burden of proof, something more is required.*** *Turner*, 392 S.C. at 122, 708 S.E.2d at 769; *Hancock*, 381 S.C. at 331, 708 S.E.2d at 803.

(R. pp. 4-5 (emphasis added)). The trial court then failed to specify whether it deemed it appropriate to apply either of those two standards to Henderson’s claim and, if so, which one.

Regardless, from the trial court’s discussion of the capacity issue, it is apparent that it *did not* apply the “mere scintilla” standard, as *the LLC Order itself* identified more than a “trace” of evidence that Hanahan lacked the ability to understand the nature and effect of the documents she signed. (*See* R. p. 6 (“On September 6, 2012, Dr. Durst, Ms. Hanahan’s regular physician[,] noted ‘the dementia is reported to have been present for several months. Her mental status appears to be gradually deteriorating.’”); R. pp. at 5-6 (“As evidence, Petitioner contends that, for a period of about five (5) years before her death in 2014, Ms. Hanahan was unable to retrieve phone messages, manage her medications, had stopped reading books, was forgetful, and had

written a check ... that was ‘nonsensical.’”). The fact that the trial court nevertheless granted Scarborough’s motion reflects that the trial court improperly applied a heightened standard of review and required Henderson to offer more than a “mere scintilla” of evidence to survive summary judgment. (*See also* Part II, below). This was error.

B. The Trial Court Erred in Finding No Genuine Dispute of Material Fact Related to Henderson’s Incapacity Claim.

Under any standard, and certainly under the applicable “mere scintilla” standard, the evidence before the trial court reflected a genuine dispute of material fact regarding Hanahan’s incapacity as of December 30, 2012. Scarborough himself admitted that Hanahan was first diagnosed with dementia in 2005, *seven years* prior to signing the documents in question. (R. p. 231, line 14). Scarborough also admitted that Hanahan suffered from bipolar disorder. (R. p. 244, line 1).

The trial court appeared to agree with Scarborough that: “the facts that she had dementia, she was bipolar, so what? She had the ability to understand the value of her estate, what she was doing, what she wanted to accomplish, [and] who she wanted to benefit with her generosity.” (R. p. 244, line 1). But that *ipse dixit* is not borne out by the actual evidence.

For example, the LLC Order cites the October 18, 2012 report of Dr. Piave Pitisci Lake, Ms. Hanahan’s psychiatrist. (R. p. 11). Dr. Lake’s impressions (“IP”) during that visit included not only “Bipolar DO” and “depr[ession]” but also “cognitive impairment.” (R. 118). Similarly, as noted above, the LLC Order cites to the September 6, 2012 report of Dr. Kay Durst, wherein Dr. Durst noted that Hanahan’s “dementia is reported to have been present for several months. ***Her mental status appears to be gradually deteriorating.***” (R. p. 6 (emphasis added)). Moss, the associate of Scarborough who prepared and witnessed Hanahan’s signature on the operating agreement, testified that “he wouldn’t have done any of it if [he] knew she had dementia.” (R. p.

804, lines 7-8; R. p. 256, lines 23-25).

Scarborough himself was aware of his aunt's failing mental and physical health, as he had discussions with Henderson prior to the execution of the LLC documents about their shared concerns with her continuing to drive her own car. (R. p. 266, lines 4-14). Scarborough was also aware that Hanahan required in-home caretakers to assist her with basic tasks, like dressing herself. (R. p. 274, lines 9-14). Scarborough admits that there were concerns about her failing condition. (R. p. 272, lines 19-24).

Nevertheless, the trial court concluded that Henderson failed to produce “**any evidence** that Ms. Hanahan suffered from any mental deficiency or mental or physical defect that would affect her ability to understand the nature of the creation of the MRH Family, LLC, the Operating Agreement, the pertinent deeds, or the Statement regarding Land Transfers.” (R. pp. 11-12 (emphasis in the original)). This conclusion was clearly incorrect. As reflected above, the trial court had more than a “mere scintilla” or “trace” of evidence suggesting that Hanahan lacked the ability to understand the consequences of what she was signing, and the LLC Order must accordingly be reversed. *See, e.g., Quail Hill, LLC v. Cty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (“An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56, SCRPC.”).

C. The Trial Court Applied the Incorrect Standard of Review to Henderson's Undue Influence Claim.

“The party challenging [a] deed” – here Henderson – may show the existence of a confidential relationship between the grantor and the grantee,” in which case “the deed is presumed invalid” based on undue influence. *Bullard v. Crawley*, 294 S.C. 276, 281, 363 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1987). “The burden then shifts to the grantee” – here represented by Scarborough, who received a 30% interest in the LLC as a result of Hanahan's signatures on the documents in

question – “to affirmatively show the absence of undue influence.” *Id.*; see *Middleton v. Suber*, 300 S.C. 402, 405, 388 S.E.2d 639, 641 (1990) (where “confidential relationship” exists between grantor and grantee, deed is presumed invalid and burden is on grantee to establish absence of undue influence); *Hudson v. Leopold*, 288 S.C. 194, 196, 341 S.E.2d 137, 138 (1986) (“A fiduciary relationship between the grantor and grantee may give rise to a presumption of undue influence, thus shifting the burden of proof to the grantee to rebut the presumption.”). “Thus, the determination of whether a confidential relationship existed also determines which party has the burden of proof on the issue of undue influence.” *Bullard*, 294 S.C. at 281.

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