THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

RECEIVED

JUN 19 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE HONORABLE BROOKS P. GOLDSMITH, CIRCUIT JUDGE

Case No. 2017-001775

Mikell M.
Henderson,.....Appellant,

vs.

Mikell R. Scarborough, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary
Ross Hanahan and Joseph Ross Henderson,
.....Defendants,

Of whom Mikell R. Scarborough, individually and as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Mary Ross Hanahan, is the
.....Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MIKELL R. SCARBOROUGH,
individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mary Ross Hanahan**

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Applied the Correct Standard of Review to Henderson's Incapacity Claim.

1. The Estate Plan & \$4,000,000+ Gift.

On December 30, 2012, Appellant received a gift from his mother, Mary Ross Hanahan, worth over \$4,000,000. This gift was a result of her formation and funding of the MRH Family LLC. Mrs. Hanahan's purpose was to reduce the burden of estate taxes on her estate. Appellant received a 68% interest in the LLC. Between 2012 and 2014, Appellant received Eighteen thousand dollars (\$18,000) in distributions from the LLC. Schedule K-1s were issued to him personally as part of the LLC tax returns; Appellant used those in preparation of his own personal tax returns. Appellant did not express any concern to his CPA about his mother's capacity regarding the creation and funding of the LLC. (R. p. 448, line 5 – p. 449, line 10; Henderson Tr. p. 151, line 5 - p. 152, line 10); (R. p. 179; Respondent's Supplemental Memorandum submitted in Support of Motion For Summary Judgment as to Creation of MRH Family, LLC and Related Documents, Ex. 9))

Appellant made no complaint as to his mother's mental capacity to make the 2012 gift until one (1) year after her death, in September 2015. Now, Appellant seeks to have the LLC rendered void *ab initio*. If successful, Appellant would inherit all the land transferred to the LLC under his mother's 1998 Last Will and Testament. This result would have Mrs. Hanahan's estate pay substantial estate taxes, the exact result she took significant steps to avoid by her estate planning.

2. Trial Court used the correct standard in granting Summary Judgment to Respondent.

Summary Judgment is a drastic remedy to be “cautiously invoked” so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues, Baughman v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 306 S.C 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1990), and should be cautiously granted only when it is shown that there exists “no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP; See also McNair v. Rainsford, 330 S.C. 332, 342, 499 S.E.2d 488, 493, (Ct. App. 1998). “The Court must construe all ambiguities, conclusions and inferences arising from the evidence against the moving party; however, the opposing party may not rest upon mere allegations or denials, but must respond with specific facts showing a genuine issue.” City of Columbia v. Town of Irmo, 316 S.C. 193, 195, 447 S.E.2d 855, 857 (1994).

Appellant argues (in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof), the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009) and Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 708 S.E.2d 766 (2011). These are the two cases cited in the trial court’s Order of May 30, 2017. (R. pp. 2-21) Appellant now contends that the trial court referenced both the “mere scintilla” standard and the “heightened burden of proof” standard but then failed to specify whether it deemed it appropriate to apply either of those two standards to the claim of incapacity and, if so, which one.

3. Trial Court Ruling based on Elements in Turner v. Milliman.

Respondent submits that the trial court did apply the correct standard (a mere scintilla of evidence) to the issue of alleged lack of capacity which requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence and also correctly considered all evidence before it in accordance with the clear holding in Turner v. Milliman which states that summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law. *Id.*; Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

Appellant's argument that the trial court's Order identified more than a "trace" of evidence that Mrs. Hanahan lacked the ability to understand the nature and effect of the documents she signed is misleading. The court, on Pages 4 and 5 of the Order, (R. pp. 5-6), simply recites the contentions and arguments of Appellant as to why he believed his mother lacked the requisite capacity to understand the LLC documents and deeds she signed on December 30, 2012.

In its ruling, the trial court correctly relied on Mathias v. Mathias, 206 S.C. 276, 33 S.E.2d 626 (1945) which states a grantor with sufficient mental ability to comprehend what he is doing and understands the nature of the act and its consequences, has the legal capacity to make a deed. This holding is similar to that recited by Appellant under Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C. N.A., 351 S.C. 287, 569 S.E.2d 371 (Ct. App. 2002) which discusses the mental capacity required to execute a trust and life insurance contract.

4. Appellant's Conduct. In December 2012, Appellant was silent as to any concerns about his Mother's mental capacity; No "mere scintilla" of evidence presented by Appellant.

The trial court, in its ruling, correctly considered that Appellant produced no evidence under the "mere scintilla" standard. In December 2012, Appellant raised no concern about his mother's mental capacity to create and fund the LLC at issue, to his mother, his cousin, or either one of the two (2) professionals involved in the preparation of the transactional and legal documents. In fact, all evidence supports that Mrs. Hanahan expressed what she wanted, understood the nature of her actions, and the beneficial consequences for her estate and her family.

A look at the history of this case is illuminating.

a. Appellant's Discussions with his Mother; the Email; the Power of Attorney; Appellant did not doubt his Mother's Capacity.

Appellant's active participation in the LLC formation was correctly considered by the trial court. It began with an email between Appellant and Respondent dated December 5, 2012, where Appellant states that he had just spoken with his mother and confirmed that she "wanted to go ahead with creating the LLC" and "that she would agree to me or her signing a limited or durable POA for Mikell Scarborough to take care of the deeds to her properties." (R. p. 7; Order of May 30, 2017, p. 6); (R. p. 141; Respondent's Supplemental Memorandum submitted in Support of Motion For Summary Judgment as to Creation of MRH Family, LLC and Related Documents, Ex. 1(1)); (R. p. 415, line 2 – p. 416, line 2; Henderson Tr. p. 118, line 2 - p. 119, line 2); (R. p. 510; Ex. 13)

In his deposition, Appellant admits that when he spoke with his mother on December 5, 2012, the day before she signed a new Power of Attorney appointing Respondent as her agent, he "did not doubt her capacity" and that "I can't point to anything that changed

during that three week period of time,” [between December 5, 2012 and December 30, 2012]. (R. p. 433, lines 4-24; Henderson Tr. p. 136, lines 4-24.) Appellant further admits that he had no written statements regarding his mother’s mental status in December 2012. (R. p. 382, lines 2-7; Henderson Tr. p. 85, lines 2-7.) Notably, Appellant has not challenged the validity of the Power of Attorney.

5. The Professionals; Appellant actively involved in the formation of the LLC; Mother Confirmed her Understanding; Appellant signed the LLC Operating Agreement.

Appellant spoke with his mother in early December 2012 about the LLC’s purpose and formation and was actively involved in the month long process. Appellant communicated with Respondent, his Mother, and Mr. Moss about the need for the LLC and its required documents.

Appellant also engaged in telephone conversations and email communications with Christopher Moss, Esq., the CPA-attorney, who prepared the Power of Attorney (POA) for Mrs. Hanahan on December 6, 2012, which POA is not being challenged by Appellant. (R. p. 406, line 23 – p. 409, line 21; Henderson Tr. p.109, line 23 - p. 112, line 21; (R. p. 410, lines 1-25; Henderson Tr. p. 113, lines 1-25); (R. p. 411, line 15 – p. 412, line 9; Henderson Tr. p. 114, line 15 - p. 115, line 9); (R. p. 420, line 13 – p. 422, line 9; Henderson Tr. p. 123, line 13 - p. 125, line 9); (R. pp. 511-512 [missing pp. 2 and 3]; Supp. R. pp. 911-914; Ex. 14); (R. p. 144-147; Respondent’s Supplemental Memorandum submitted in Support of Motion For Summary Judgment as to Creation of MRH Family, LLC and Related Documents, Ex. 2(1))

Mr. Moss also prepared the MRH Family LLC Operating Agreement which Appellant signed as the majority (68%) member as well as by the other two (2) LLC members; to wit, Mrs. Hanahan (2%) and Respondent on behalf of his single member LLC, (30%). Appellant did not seek independent advice as to the LLC and had no questions about the Operating Agreement. (R. p. 424, line 9 – p. 425, line 14; Henderson Tr. p.127, line 9 - p. 128, line 14); (R. p. 430, line 15 – p. 431, line 10; Henderson Tr. p. 133, line 15 - p. 134, line 10); (R. p. 444, line 10 – p. 445, line 24; Henderson Tr. p. 147, line 10 - p. 148, line 24; (R. pp. 513-534; Ex. 15 and 16); (R. pp. 150-160; Respondent’s Supplemental Memorandum submitted in Support of Motion For Summary Judgment as to Creation of MRH Family, LLC and Related Documents, Ex. 3(1))

a. **Testimony of Christopher Moss, CPA-Attorney; His Meetings with Mrs. Hanahan. His Interactions with Appellant; Appellant Happy and No Concerns as to Mother’s Capacity.**

The trial court correctly considered Mr. Moss’s uncontroverted testimony that he met with Mrs. Hanahan on December 6, 2012, and reviewed with her by PowerPoint the Summary 5 Action Steps that same date. (R. p. 216; Respondent’s Supplemental Memorandum submitted in Support of Motion For Summary Judgment as to Creation of MRH Family, LLC and Related Documents, Ex. 11(1)). Mr. Moss testified that Mrs. Hanahan understood the concept of putting assets into a family LLC, the limitation on its marketability, the discount allowed by the government and the ability to gift more assets than you would be able to without forming the LLC. (R. p. 746, line 13 – p. 747, line 8; Moss Tr. p. 14, line 13 - p. 15, line 8). Mrs. Hanahan told Mr. Moss that she wanted to benefit her son, Appellant, and her nephew, Respondent, but that she did not want to include her other son, Joseph Ross Henderson. Further, Mrs. Hanahan was adamant that

Respondent receive a 30% interest and “there was no talking her out of it”. (R. p. 749, line 17 - p. 751, line 8; Moss Tr. p. 17, line 17 - p. 19, line 8)

Mr. Moss described his first conversation with Appellant on December 5, 2012, about the LLC stating that “he was very happy about it. Very excited.” (R. p. 753, line 3 - p. 755, line 4; Moss Tr. 21, line 3 - p. 23, line 4) Mr. Moss further testified that when Appellant got the Operating Agreement, Appellant did not question the percentages of ownership which were 68% for Appellant, 30% for Respondent’s LLC, and 2% for Mrs. Hanahan. (R. p. 799, line 10 – p. 800, line 2; Moss Tr. p. 67, line 10 - p. 68, line 2; (R. p. 762, lines 4-24; Moss Tr. p. 30, lines 4-24). Appellant signed the Operating Agreement on December 30, 2012, knowing that his mother and Respondent were also signing that same day. (R. p. 424, line 9 - p. 425, line 14; Henderson Tr. p. 127, line 9 - p. 128, line 14); (R. p. 430, line 15 - p. 431, line 10; Henderson Tr. p. 133, line 15 - p. 134, line 10); (R. p. 444, line 10 - p. 445, line 24; Henderson Tr. p. 147, line 10 - p. 148, line 24); (R. pp. 513-534; Ex. 15 and 16); (R. pp. 258-259; Hearing Tr. pp. 33-34)

During Mr. Moss’s deposition, Appellant’s attorney asked Mr. Moss these important questions in regard to Mrs. Hanahan’s capacity:

“Did Mikell Henderson ever communicate to you he was concerned about his mother’s ability to understand what was going on? Answer: No.”

“Did he ever voice any concerns about her capacity to you regarding the formation of the LLC? Answer: No.” (R. p. 800, lines 3-10; Moss Tr. p. 68, lines 3-10).

Appellant, now unhappy with the events of 2012, contends his mother lacked the legal capacity needed for the transaction. He did not raise this issue to any one of those involved

at the time. In fact, Appellant's signature on the LLC Operating Agreement confirms his assent to the transaction at the time of its creation. There was no "mere scintilla" of evidence presented by Appellant that contradicted Appellant's own testimony or that of Mr. Moss. The trial court committed no error in considering Appellant's own statements that he never communicated to the professional assisting his mother any concern regarding her mental capacity. The trial court's ruling was correct.

6. Trial Court Did Not Err. Based on the above evidence, the trial court did not apply the heightened standard of review as contended by Appellant and did not err in its application of the "mere scintilla" standard in granting summary judgment for Respondent.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Finding No Genuine Dispute of Material Fact Related to Henderson's Incapacity Claim.

1. Doctor's Reports.

Appellant focuses extensively on Respondent's testimony regarding his aunt's medical diagnoses of dementia and bipolar disorder and family concerns which included Mrs. Hanahan's driving ability and the need for caregiver help at home. Appellant also cites the medical reports of Drs. Durst and Lake. Further inquiry into these medical reports follows.

a. Reports of Kay Durst, M.D. regarding Mrs. Hanahan.

In accordance with Turner v. Milliman, the trial court correctly considered the medical evidence that was part of the record and which was undisputed by Appellant. There are two (2) reports by Dr. Kay Durst, Mrs. Hanahan's primary care physician, who was well aware of Mrs. Hanahan's dementia diagnosis, that are of utmost importance regarding Mrs.

Hanahan's mental capacity. On September 6, 2012, three (3) months before the LLC meetings began, Dr. Durst reports her psychiatric observations of Ms. Hanahan that she (Ms. Hanahan) was "negative for anxiety, depression, and sleep disturbances" and has "appropriate affect and demeanor, normal speech pattern and grossly normal memory." (R. p. 242; Hearing Tr. p. 17) (Supp. R. pp. 897-899); Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment; Report of Dr. Kay Durst dated Sep. 6, 2012). A second report on October 16, 2012, about seven (7) weeks before the LLC meetings began, Dr. Durst, states in her medical records that "she (Ms. Hanahan) is doing well overall" and Ms. Hanahan "states that she feels no issue" and is "in no apparent distress." (R. pp. 115-117 and pp. 495-497); (R. pp. 10-11; Order of May 30, 2017, pp. 9-10); (R. pp. 89-108; Memorandum Submitted on Behalf of Respondent in Support of Motions For Summary Judgment with Attachments dated April 19, 2017)

b. Report of Piave Lake, M.D. regarding Mrs. Hanahan. The trial court also correctly considered the medical report of October 18, 2012, by Dr. Piave Lake, Mrs. Hanahan's psychiatrist, who was familiar with bipolar disorder. Dr. Lake states that "she (Ms. Hanahan) has a neat appearance; her thought process is "normal", her thought content is "normal", she has "full orientation as to place, time, person", her speech is "normal"; her memory is "wnl (within normal limits); she shows "no gross deficit" in either insight or judgment. (R. p.118) (R. p.11; Order of May 30, 2017, p. 10); (R. pp. 89-125; Memorandum Submitted on Behalf of Respondent in Support of Motions For Summary Judgment with Attachments dated April 19, 2017)

Neither doctor's reports are disputed by Appellant in his deposition testimony and he had no reason to doubt them. (R. p. 368, line 18 - p. 376, line 10; Henderson Tr. p. 71, line

18 - p.79, line 10); (R. pp. 495-497 and p. 499; Ex. 6 and 8); Further, Appellant admitted to the contents of the reports in his Responses to Respondent's First Requests to Admit. (R. pp. 110-114; Memorandum Submitted on Behalf of Respondent in Support of Motions for Summary Judgment with Attachments dated April 19, 2017)

On the issue of contractual capacity the Appellants offered nothing more to the trial court than medical notes with generalized references to Mrs. Hanahan's diagnoses of dementia, bi-polar illness and depression, and lay affidavits concerning her ability to drive and use a telephone answering machine. This is not evidence upon the critical question, that is Mrs. Hanahan's ability to understand the LLC operating agreement and deeds **at the time the documents were executed, or their nature and effect.** See In re Thames, 344 S.C. 564, 570, 544 S.E.2d 854 (Ct. App. 2001).

As stated in Thames:

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